No. 11-2-03210-6 (trial court) No. 72314-6 (Court of Appeals)

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Michael Salewski, D.V.M., an individual, Appellant

v.

Pilchuck Veterinary Hospital, Inc., P.S., a Washington corporation, Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Charles J. Paternoster, WSBA # 38703 Parsons Farnell & Grein, LLP 1030 SW Morrison St. Portland, Oregon 97205

Email: cpaternoster@pfglaw.com

Telephone: 503-222-1812 Facsimile: 503-274-7979

Attorney for Appellant Michael Salewski, D.V.M.

INTRODUCTION

This appeal arises from an Order of Snohomish County Superior Court Judge Richard T. Okrent confirming an arbitration award and denying Appellant Dr. Michael Salewski's ("Salewski") Motion to Vacate the award in favor of Respondent Pilchuck Veterinary Hospital, Inc., P.S. ("Pilchuck") on July 14, 2014.

Dr. Salewski is a veterinarian specializing in alternative medicines, in particular chiropractic, acupuncture and Chinese herbal medicines. He became an employee of Pilchuck in 1992. Sometime between 1998 and 2000, Dr. Salewski became a shareholder in the practice. In 2008, Dr. Salewski left the ownership group, remaining on as an employee from 2008 through 2010, when he left Pilchuck and moved to Oregon to begin his own practice there.

At issue in this appeal is the enforceability of a noncompetition provision in a contract signed by the parties in January of 2007 (the "January 2007 Agreement"), as well as a liquidated damages provision also included in that agreement.

To prevail in this appeal, Appellant must demonstrate that the Arbitrator exceeded his powers and that the Trial Court erred in refusing to vacate the arbitration award based on clear error that appears on the

face of the award. This includes any issues of law evident in the face of the award.

In this case, the Trial Court erred in refusing to vacate the arbitration award based on two fundamental legal errors found on the face of the award. First, the arbitrator, and then the Trial Court, concluded that the noncompetition provision signed in the January 2007 agreement was enforceable and supported by adequate consideration, even though Dr. Salewski ceased being a shareholder in 2008 and returned to his status as an employee. In reaching this conclusion, the arbitrator and the Trial Court misconstrued the holding of the Washington Supreme Court in *Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 834, 100 P.3d 791(2004), requiring that independent, additional consideration is required for the valid formation of a modification or subsequent agreement of a noncompetition agreement.

In addition, the arbitrator, and the Trial Court, upheld the existence of a liquidated damages clause in the January 2007 agreement, despite the fact that the liquidated damages clause constituted an unenforceable penalty. In this case, the specific noncompetition restriction prohibited Salewski from practicing veterinary medicine anywhere within a 50-mile radius of Pilchuck's office for a three-year period. The noncompetition provision further prohibited Salewski from performing veterinary services

outside the 50-mile radius for any clients who had been served at one time by Pilchuck.

The liquidated damages clause in the January 2007 agreement provided for damages in the amount of \$300,000 for any violation of this extremely broad covenant. Rather than serving as a reasonable forecast of just compensation for the potential harm caused by the breach, an award of \$300,000 for any single violation is exactly the kind of damages award that is punitive in nature and a classic example of money stipulated *in* terrorem of the offending party.

For these reasons, Appellant respectfully submits that the arbitration award is clearly erroneous on its face and that the Trial Court erred in refusing to vacate the arbitration award.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I. Assignment of Error No. 1

The Trial Court erred in confirming the arbitration award in favor of Respondent and denying Appellant's Motion to Vacate the award on July 14, 2014.

/////

/////

/////

II. Assignment of Error No. 2

The Trial Court erred in refusing to vacate the arbitration award as erroneous on its face on the ground that the noncompetition provision at issue was not supported by adequate consideration.

III. Assignment of Error No. 3

The Trial Court erred in refusing to vacate the arbitration award as erroneous on its face on the grounds that the liquidated damages clause in the amount of \$300,000 for any violation of the covenant was an unenforceable penalty.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

I. Issue - Assignment of Error Nos. 1 and 2

Was there adequate consideration to support the enforcement of the noncompetition agreement that formed the basis for the Arbitration Award?

II. Issue - Assignment of Error Nos. 1 and 2

Can the promises of other shareholders in their own separate employment agreements provide consideration for a subsequent noncompetition agreement by another shareholder?

/////

/////

III. Issue - Assignment of Error Nos. 1 and 2

Does continued employment, in and of itself, serve as adequate consideration for a noncompetition agreement entered into after initial employment?

IV. Issue - Assignment of Error No. 1 and 3

Is a liquidated damages clause that provides for \$300,000 in damages for any single violation of a noncompetition provision enforceable or an unenforceable penalty?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Procedural Background

- Appellant Michael Salewski, D.V.M. brought the instant action against defendant, Pilchuck Veterinary Hospital, Inc., for breach of contract based on Pilchuck's failure to pay on a promissory note issued to Dr. Salewski as part of the buyout of his interest in the company. CP 387-390.
- In response, Pilchuck counterclaimed, alleging
 Dr. Salewski entered into a noncompetition agreement in January of 2007 which he later violated. CP 379-386.
- Dr. Salewski moved for summary judgment on the promissory note and Pilchuck filed its own cross-motion for summary judgment on its claim Dr. Salewski breached the noncompetition agreement. CP 353-370; CP 271-295.

- 4. On June 12, 2012, the Honorable Linda C. Krese granted Dr. Salewski's motion for summary judgment on the promissory note and denied Pilchuck's cross-motion, leaving the only dispute in this case the validity of the noncompetition agreement and its corresponding liquidated damages provision. CP 151-153.
- On the agreement of the parties, the remaining
 counterclaim was submitted to an arbitrator on October 22, 2013. CP 146.
- 6. On November 7, 2013, Salewski received notice of the arbitrator's tentative award in favor of Pilchuck. CP 146-150.
- Appellant timely motioned the arbitrator on November 13,
 2013 to change the award based on errors of law and fact in the
 arbitrator's tentative opinion pursuant to RCW 7.04A.200. CP 143-145.
- On February 26, 2014, Dr. Salewski received notice that the arbitrator denied his motion to change the award, and received a copy of the final arbitration award. CP 143-145; CP 146-150.
- Dr. Salewski timely filed a Motion to Vacate the Arbitration Award pursuant to RCW 7.04A.230, along with a Memorandum in Support of this Motion. CP 114-115; CP 85-113.
- 10. Appellant also filed a timely opposition to Pilchuck's motion to confirm the Arbitration Award in Snohomish County Circuit Court, opposing the entry of the Arbitration Award. CP 10-14.
- 11. On June 12, 2014, the Snohomish County Superior Court, the Honorable Richard T. Okrent, heard argument on Appellant's Motion

to Vacate and Respondent's Motion to Confirm the Arbitration Award. CP 15-27.

- 12. Ultimately, the Trial Court denied Appellant's Motion to Vacate the Award. The Order denying this motion and confirming the Arbitration Award was entered on July 14, 2014. CP 10-14.
- 13. Appellant timely appealed from this Order of Court, filing his Notice of Appeal on August 7, 2014. CP 2-9.

II. Factual Background

- Dr. Salewski is a veterinarian specializing in alternative medicines, in particular chiropractic, acupuncture and Chinese herbal medicines. CP 147. He became an employee of Pilchuck on December 17, 1992. CP 146.
- 2. On that day, Pilchuck, as "Employer", and Salewski each signed an Employment Agreement and an agreement not to compete in which Salewski agreed not to compete with Employer and to "not perform veterinary services of any kind for client served by" Pilchuck "that reside outside of the above stated areas for a period of three years." CP 146.
- 3. The 1992 agreement provided for liquidated damages of \$3,500 per month for each month of breach. CP 146.

¹ All facts referenced in Appellant's factual background are taken directly from the Arbitrator's Findings of Fact in the Arbitration Award and the transcript of the proceedings before the Trial Court. *See* CP 146-150; CP 15-27. For the purposes of this appeal, Appellant does not take issue with these factual findings, but merely recites certain limited facts from the Award for the purpose of revealing the legal issues on the face of the Award which Appellant contends are clearly erroneous.

- 4. Salewski and Pilchuck signed an Employment Agreement dated February 13, 1998, which contained an agreement not to compete with a 25-mile radius for three years, and stated that Salewski would not "provide services to any client served by Pilchuck Veterinary Hospital at the time of termination, regardless of where the services are rendered for a period of three years." CP 146.
- The 1998 agreement provided for liquidated damages in the amount of \$3,500 per month. CP 146.
- 6. Salewski became a shareholder in Pilchuck, buying into the practice and into the property upon which it operated, sometime between 1998 and 2000. CP 147.
- 7. Each time a new owner was brought in as a shareholder, a new set of documents, including an agreement not to compete, were signed by the shareholders. CP 147.
- In January of 2007, (the agreement at issue in this case),
 seven shareholders, including Salewski, signed employment agreements.
 CP 147.
- 9. The terms of the agreements changed over time. The November 2002 and March 2005 agreements provided for a 3-year noncompete over a 50-mile radius with a \$200,000 liquidated damages clause. CP 147.
- The January 2007 agreement increased the liquidated damages to \$300,000. CP 147.

- 11. Specifically, the January 2007 agreement provided that, "[a]dditionally, Employee agrees to pay liquidated damages in the amount of Three Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$300,000) for any violation of the covenant not to compete." CP 150.
- In 2008, Salewski indicated that he wanted to leave the ownership group. CP 147.
- 13. As part of leaving the ownership group and again becoming an employee of Pilchuck, a stock redemption agreement was executed by Plaintiff and the remaining shareholders. CP 147.
- 14. This Stock Redemption Agreement entered into in 2008 when Salewski became an employee again did not contain a noncompetition agreement. Instead, a paragraph in the agreement merely referenced the noncompetition agreement between Salewski and Pilchuck executed on January 1, 2007 and stated that it would remain in effect. CP 147.
- 15. In December of 2010, after approximately two years working as an employee for Pilchuck, Salewski moved to Oregon and set up a practice there. CP 147.
- 16. The Arbitrator found that Salewski violated the noncompetition agreement by providing veterinary services within50 miles of Pilchuck and also by performing veterinary services outside of the 50-mile radius for clients who had been served by defendant. CP 147.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this case, the Trial Court erred in refusing to vacate the arbitration award on the ground that the noncompetition agreement at issue was not supported by adequate consideration. In the end, both the arbitrator and the Trial Court misconstrued the requirement under Washington law that a subsequent modification to noncompetition agreement must be supported by additional, independent consideration. *Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 836-838, 100 P.3d 791(2004).

Not only did the arbitrator ignore Washington law by relying on earlier noncompetition agreements to find consideration for the current noncompetition agreement, the arbitrator also did not account for the fact Salewski's employment status changed when he left the ownership group and became an employee of Pilchuck in 2008, an event which also required additional, independent consideration for the noncompetition agreement to be enforceable at this time. Instead, the arbitrator incorrectly concluded that the "promises" of other Pilchuck shareholders in their own

/////

/////

previous employment agreements served as sufficient consideration for both Salewski's January 2007 Agreement and the noncompetition covenant merely referenced in the 2008 Stock Purchase Agreement.

CP 148.

The Trial Court further erred in refusing to vacate the arbitrator's award based on clear error on its face, reasoning that under *Labriola*, Salewski's continued employment with Pilchuck, in itself, served as sufficient consideration for the noncompetition agreement. CP 24.

The Trial Court also should have vacated the arbitration award based on clear legal error on the face of the award on the ground that the liquidated damages clause in the January 2007 agreement, which provided for \$300,000 in liquidated damages for any, single violation of the noncompetition provision, constituted an unenforceable penalty.

///// /////

/////

/////

/////

/////

11111

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Vacate the Arbitration Award.

A. Legal Standard

In reviewing an arbitrator's decision, the Trial Court considers whether any of the statutory grounds for vacation exist. *Cummings v. Budget Tank Removal & Envtl. Serv. LLC*, 163 Wn. App. 379, 388, 260 P.3d 220 (2011). One of the statutory grounds for vacating an award is when the arbitrator has "exceeded the arbitrator's powers." RCW 7.04A.230(d); *Cummings*, 163 Wn. App. at 388.

To vacate an award on this ground, the error must appear "on the face of the award." *Federated Servs. Ins. Co. v. Pers. Representative of Estate of Norberg*, 101 Wn. App. 119, 123, 4 P.3d 844 (2000) ("The error should be recognizable from the language of the award, as, for instance, where the arbitrator identifies a portion of the award as punitive damages in a jurisdiction that does not allow punitive damages.").

"Where a final award sets forth the arbitrator's reasoning along with the actual dollar amounts awarded, any issue of law evident in the reasoning may also be considered as part of the face of the award."

Cummings, 163 Wn. App. at 389 (emphasis added).

11111

- II. The Noncompetition Agreement Lacked Consideration as a Matter of Law.
 - A. Washington law requires that a subsequent modification to a noncompetition agreement be supported by additional, independent consideration.

As an initial matter, the arbitrator correctly noted in his analysis that adequate consideration is a threshold issue when it comes to the validity of a noncompetition agreement. CP 148. The general rule in Washington is that consideration exists if the employee enters into a noncompetition when he or she is first hired. *Wood v. May*, 73 Wn.2d 307, 310-11, 438 P.2d 587 (1968); *Racine v. Bender*, 141 Wash. 606, 609, 252 P.115 (1927); *Knight, Vale & Gregory v. McDaniel*, 37 Wn. App. 366, 368, 680 P.2d 448 (1984).

That said, Washington Courts are equally clear that a noncompetition agreement entered into after employment will be enforced only if it is supported by separate, independent consideration. See e.g., Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 836-838, 100 P.3d 791(2004); Rosellini v. Banchero, 83 Wn.2d 268, 273, 517 P.2d 955 (1974); Schneller v. Hayes, 176 Wash. 115, 118, 28 P.2d 273 (1934).

In cases where a noncompetition agreement is entered into after employment, the Washington Supreme Court has explained that "[i]ndependent, additional consideration is required for the valid formation

of a *modification or subsequent agreement*" of a noncompete. *Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 834 (emphasis added).

Moreover, there is no consideration when "one party is to perform some additional obligation while the other party is simply to perform that which he promised in the original contract." *Banchero*, 83 Wn.2d at 273 (citing 15 Walter H.E. Jaeger, Williston on Contracts § 1826 at 487 (3d ed.1972)). Independent consideration may include increased wages, a promotion, a bonus, a fixed term of employment, or perhaps access to protected information. *Schneller*, 176 Wash. at 118-19.

In *Schneller*, the Washington Supreme Court held that a noncompete agreement an employee signed just after starting work lacked consideration because the employer failed to advise the employee of the noncompete agreement at the time of the offer for hire. *Schneller*, 176 Wash. at 118, 28 P.2d 273. The Supreme Court reasoned there was no consideration since the noncompete agreement made no promises to the employee for future employment and stipulated nothing as to wages. *Id.*

In *Labriola*, the Court held that consideration was absent in a noncompetition agreement where the employer promised nothing in the way of future employment and nothing was stipulated as to wages. *Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 838, 100 P3d 791. Further, during deposition in the case, the employer's president conceded that "no extra benefits or

consideration or promises [were] made to [Employee] if he signed the noncompete." *Id.* While the employer attempted to argue that the employee's continued employment served as consideration for the noncompete agreement, the Court rejected that contention and concluded that consideration was lacking. *Id.*

The concurring opinion in *Labriola*, authored by Justice Madsen, also provided additional guidance. There, Justice Madsen clarified that under Washington law, "[c]ontinued at-will employment, without more, is never sufficient consideration for a noncompete agreement formed subsequent to employment." *Labriola*, at 844 (Madsen, J., concurring) Moreover, Justice Madsen reiterated that "[t]he general rule in Washington is that consideration exists [only] if the [e]mployee enters into a noncompete agreement when he or she is first hired." *Id*.

B. The arbitrator erred as a matter of law in concluding that previously executed noncompetition agreements provided consideration for the January 2007 noncompetition agreement.

In this case, the arbitrator found that there was consideration for the noncompetition covenant in the January 2007 Agreement, appearing to rely on the promises made by other shareholders in the Pilchuck practice (none of whom were parties to the actual January 2007 Agreement with Dr. Salewski) made in previous years. CP 148. This decision was clearly erroneous and misconstrues Washington law.

The arbitration award provides, in pertinent part:

Plaintiff and Defendant did enter into a non-compete agreement when he was first hired on December 17, 1992[.]

Plaintiff argues as if the agreement signed in January 1, 2007 was the first non-compete agreement that he signed. It was not. The first one was signed the day he began employment in 1992. This current one was the last of three or four such agreements executed by all of the shareholders of Defendant, of which Plaintiff was one. The promises of the other shareholders were consideration for Plaintiff's promise. Thus there was a bargained for exchange of promises. Williams Fruit Co. v. Hanover Ins. Co., 3 Wn.App. 276, 281.

CP 148.

In finding consideration for the January 1, 2007 noncompetition covenant, the arbitrator appears to misconstrue the holding of the Washington Supreme Court in *Labriola*. Rather than analyze the January 2007 Agreement based on the clear dictates of the Court in *Labriola* (providing that "[i]ndependent, additional, consideration is required for the valid formation of a modification or subsequent agreement.")(*Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 836-838), the arbitrator appears to have relied on the language in *Labriola* that discusses the rule that applies to noncompetition agreements entered into when an employment relationship begins. *See Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 836-38 ("The general rule in Washington is that

consideration exists if the Employee enters into a noncompete agreement when he or she is first hired.").

But this reasoning is fatally flawed. *Labriola* does not stand for the proposition that consideration at the beginning of the employment relationship is a "blank check" that stands as consideration for any subsequent agreement or modification. Instead, *Labriola* provides that even if there was consideration at the beginning of the employment relationship for a noncompetition agreement, any subsequent agreement or modification, after initial employment, must be supported by additional and independent consideration. *Labriola*, 152 Wn.2d at 836-838.

Moreover, whether any of the previous noncompetition covenants from 1992 through 2005 were supported by consideration is not germane to the question of whether there was consideration for the January 2007 noncompetition covenant. First and foremost, these are different agreements with different terms. As noted by the arbitrator in his Findings of Fact, from 1992 to 2007, the noncompetition covenant changed dramatically. CP 146-47. For example, the radius of the geographical restriction changed from 25 to 50 miles. CP 146-47. The liquidated damages provision increased, over time, from \$3,500 per month for each month of breach, to \$200,000, to ultimately \$300,000 for any violation in the 2007 covenant. CP 146-147.

The agreement that Pilchuck sought to enforce in this case was not one of these prior agreements, but rather the January 2007 noncompetition covenant, which was both a subsequent agreement and a modification of previous noncompetition agreements (see e.g. 2005 vs 2007 noncompetition covenant, increasing liquidated damages from \$200,000 to \$300,000)(CP 147). As such, under Labriola, it needed to be supported by separate and independent consideration. This kind of separate and independent consideration, as defined in Labriola, was completely absent in this case. As a result, it was clear error, on the face of the award, for the arbitrator to find consideration for the January 2007 noncompetition covenant in the previous agreements of the parties and for the Trial Court not to vacate the award based on a lack of additional and independent consideration.

C. The arbitrator also erred as a matter of law in concluding that the promises of other shareholders to Pilchuck could serve as additional, independent consideration for the noncompetition covenant.

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