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

## **IV.ARGUMENT**

The grounds for vacation of an arbitration award are set forth in RCW 7.04.230 as follows:

- (1) Upon motion of a party to the arbitration proceeding, the court shall vacate an award if:
  - (a) The award was procured by corruption, fraud or

other undue means;

- (b) There was:
  - i. Evident partiality by an arbitrator appointed as a neutral;
  - ii. Corruption by an arbitrator; or
  - iii. Misconduct by an arbitrator prejudicing the rights of a party to the arbitration proceeding;
- (c) An arbitrator refused to postpone the hearing upon showing of sufficient cause for postponement, refused to consider evidence material to the controversy, or otherwise conducted the hearing contrary to RCW 7.04A.150, so as to prejudice substantially the rights of a party to the arbitration proceeding;
- (d) An arbitrator exceeded the arbitrator's powers;
- (e) There was no agreement to arbitrate, unless the person participated in the arbitration proceeding without raising the objection under RCW 7.04A.150(3) not later than the commencement of the arbitration hearing; or
- (f) The arbitration was conducted without proper notice of the initiation of an arbitration as required in RCW 7.04A.090 so as to prejudice substantially the rights of a party to the arbitration proceeding.

Arbitration awards can be vacated only upon one of the grounds enumerated in the above statute. Salewski is alleging there is a legal error on the face of the arbitration award. Legal error on the face of the award falls under "exceeding the arbitrator's powers" in subsection (d) of the statute. *Broom v. Morgan Stanley DW Inc.*, 169 Wn.2d 231, 236 P.3d 182 (2010). *See also Westmark Properties, Inc. v. McGuire*, 53 Wash.App. 400, 766 P.2d 1146 (1989).

The facial legal error standard is very narrow ground for vacating an award. *Broom* at 239. "[C]ourts may not search the arbitral proceedings for *any* legal error; courts do not look to the merits of the case, and they do not reexamine evidence ... the facial legal error standard does not permit courts to conduct a trial de novo when reviewing an arbitration award. *Id.* (citing *Boyd v. Davis*, 127 Wash.2d 256, 262, 897 P.2d 1239 (1995)).

At issue here is whether there is an error of law on the face of the award. Salewski argues that the arbitrator exceeded his powers. PVH maintains the arguments being advanced by Salewski are simply challenges on the merits. The distinction is critical as the courts have repeatedly held a challenge to an arbitration award on the merits is not appealable. Salewski argues the arbitrator erred as a matter of law in his award by finding adequate consideration for the agreement and for upholding the liquidated damages clause of the agreement. These are the same arguments Salewski made in the arbitration, his motion for reconsideration and his motion to vacate the arbitration award. PVH maintains that the award contains no errors of law on its face and therefore this appeal is improper.

If the merits of the case are to be considered, then PVH states the primary issues as whether there was adequate consideration for a noncompete agreement where the employee was also a shareholder and all the shareholders agreed the continued welfare of the company was adequate consideration for the non-compete agreement and whether a liquidated damages clause in the agreement is enforceable where the shareholders of the company agreed to a specific amount for liquidated damages in lieu of trying to assess actual or projected damages from violation of the agreement.

# A. The Arbitrator Did Not Err in Finding Adequate Consideration Where All Shareholders, Including the Employee-Shareholder, Agreed to Sign a Non-Competition Agreement For the Benefit of the Corporation

Restrictive covenants are valid restraints of trade when supported by adequate consideration. "Partnership under agreements which restrict future competition appears to be a common avenue of professional advancement. … A young professional man may be willing to trade his future right to compete in a given community for an immediate and lucrative share in an established practice. …" *Ashley v. Lance*, 75 Wash. 2d 471, 476, 451 P.2d 916, 919 (1969) (quoting *McCallum v. Asbury*, 238 Or. 257, 263, 393 P.2d 774, 777 (1964)).

Dr. Salewski first entered into an agreement not to compete that was ancillary to an employment agreement on December 17, 1992. Restrictive covenants, in one form or another have been an integral part of his employment and progression from associate veterinarian to shareholder/owner/director and back to associate veterinarian within the company. Dr. Salewski does not dispute he has violated the terms of the covenant, but urges it is unenforceable for lack of consideration.

The closest case law in Washington is the above referenced *Ashley*. That case dealt with a partnership agreement between five doctors which contained a covenant not to compete. Four of the five doctors left the partnership and started a new practice down the street. The remaining doctor sued to enforce the non-compete and the liquidated damages clause. The Court held that it was a clear covenant not to compete intended to prevent the harm which occurred when the doctors opened a new practice and that because it was deliberately prepared and freely entered into by professionals it was enforceable. *Id.* at 279. The court upheld both the non-competition agreement and the liquidated damages. *Id.* However, the court provided no discussion as to the adequacy of the consideration given for the non-competition clause within the partnership agreement and so it provides no guidance on what is consideration here.

The mutual entry by shareholders as consideration for a covenant not to compete is a matter of first impression in the State of Washington. The only case which appears to have specifically addressed this case is *Pittman v. Harbin Clinic Professional Ass'n*, 437 S.E. 2d 619, 210 Ga.App. 767 (Georgia 1993). While not binding on Washington Courts, the logic of that case is persuasive. That case differentiates the typical covenant not to compete case from a case such as this where shareholders of equal power enter into a mutual agreement for the benefit of the company and its shareholders similar to the facts in *Ashley*.

The typical covenant not to compete case involves an employee and an employer who are on vastly different bargaining levels. For example, imagine the fry cook at a fast food restaurant. The fry cook obviously does not have the same bargaining power as the manager. These "master/servant" types of cases make up the vast majority of reported cases. The common thread through these cases is that the Employer is attempting to prevent a former employee from working in his profession in some restricted area for some period of time. The issue almost always in these cases is an examination of the circumstances under which the employee executed the covenant not to compete and whether the circumstances were "fair." There is an almost inherent unfairness in these cases because of the relative bargaining power that exists in the typical master/servant relationship.

.

The present case involves a case of first impression in the State of Washington. The difference in this case vis-a-vis the typical covenant not to compete case is that the covenants entered into in this case were the result of the mutual bargaining among equal corporation shareholders. So rather than this being a typical master/servant case, it is more akin to a partnership agreement. For the sake of clarity the situations will be labeled accordingly.

PVH relies primarily on *Pittman v. Harbin Clinic Professional Ass'n*, 437 S.E. 2d 619, 210 Ga.App. 767 (Georgia 1993) as that case has almost identical facts as the present case. While PVH realizes the law of the State of Georgia is not binding upon the State of Washington the analysis is instructive. In this appeal PVH is requesting that the *Pittman* rationale be employed to uphold the restrictive covenant that Salewski violated. Even if the rationale of *Pittman* is not adopted, then Washington law still accomplishes the same result, just in a more circuitous fashion through the application of the decision in *Ashley*.

In *Pittman*, neurosurgeons Harris Pittman and Dennis Murphy were both shareholders at the Harbin Clinic Professional Association, a clinic that employed approximately fifty doctors, thirty-five of which were shareholders. Drs. Pittman and Murphy were invited to join the clinic permanently and become shareholders. The association agreed to repurchase the stock in the event that they terminated their employment contracts. Drs. Pittman and Murphy each signed restrictive covenants upon becoming shareholders which provided they could pay liquidated damages to compete should they choose. The Court upheld the covenants and Drs. Pittman and Murphy were prohibited from practicing neurosurgery within a thirty mile radius of the Rome, Georgia clinic for a period of one year. In the consolidated case two other doctors at the same practice, not shareholders, had also signed covenants not to compete within a fifty mile radius. The Court held the bargaining power between the company and the non-shareholder doctors was unequal and that the restriction was unforeseeable and unreasonable. *Id.* at 771.

Typical covenant not to compete cases require that the covenant must be entered into upon the start of employment to be enforceable; or that the covenant entered into be accompanied by a raise or introduction to new or privileged information; or that the employee receives some new benefit not otherwise bestowed upon the employee. *Racine v. Bender*, 141 Wash. 606, 609, 252 P. 115 (1927); *Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 836-38, 100 P.3d 791 (2004). The issue being whether there was adequate consideration to enforce the agreement.

.

To be enforceable, all restrictive covenants must pass the muster of elementary contract principles of offer, acceptance, and consideration. The typical employee/employer covenant is reviewed under a stricter level of scrutiny than the partnership restrictive covenant because of the relative bargaining strength of the parties. Because shareholders are on an equal footing from a bargaining standpoint the courts generally apply a looser standard of scrutiny. That is, the courts generally consider that shareholders do not need the same level of protection from one another that a non-owner employee needs from his employer.

The *Pittman* court, quoting *Rash v. Toccoa Clinic Med. Assoc*, 253 Ga. 322, 320 SE2d 170 (1984) summarized *Rash*, stating that the Supreme Court also examined the respective bargaining positions of the parties and whether the restrictive covenants at issue worked a mutual, rather than a unilateral, advantage. Consideration of these factors draws into sharp focus the differences between professional partnership agreements and employment contracts generally. It weighs in favor of the enforceability of restrictive covenants in the former and against their enforceability in the latter. The *Pittman* court compared the employment contracts in question and stated:

.

è

The contracts of Drs. Pittman and Murphy are denominated employment contracts. These doctors, however, were shareholders in the [professional association], and when they executed the agreements, they not only committed themselves to the restrictions but also derived a benefit by exacting the same restrictions from the approximately 35 other physician shareholders who executed identical contracts. The covenants obviously provided mutual advantages. *Id.* at 769

Salewski, like all of the other shareholder employees, freely and voluntarily negotiated and entered into the restrictive covenants and "derived a benefit by exacting the same restrictions" from the other shareholders who executed identical contracts. The shareholders need less protection vis-à-vis each other because they have equal bargaining power. The present case is distinguishable from a routine "covenant not to compete" case between a master and a servant (where the master and servant do not have equal bargaining power). It is analogous to a partnership agreement (where the partners have equal bargaining power) and is properly analyzed under those principals and deference. See Pittman.

Non-compete agreements among shareholders are more akin to a "partnership agreement" or a partnership relationship rather than a master/servant relationship because each of the shareholders has an equal say in the operation of the business and each stands to gain or lose when a shareholder leaves and competes. There do not appear to be any reported cases where an employee in a master/servant relationship attempted to enforce a covenant not to compete. This is particularly so where the company has also promised to purchase the stock back in the event of termination of the employment relationship and the redemption price reflects the value inherent in the covenant not to compete.

. .

Where all of the shareholder employees have virtually identical noncompete agreements, the restrictive covenants work a mutual advantage, rather than a unilateral restraint of trade, and the bargaining positions of the shareholders are equal. *Pittman* at 622. The *Pittman* court highlighted the sharp difference between the situation where the non-compete covenants are ancillary to professional partnership agreements (such work mutual benefits to all shareholder/covenantees) versus employment contracts generally (such are restraints on trade and are more closely scrutinized). *Id.* at 622. In other words, the Court explained, a non-compete covenant of professional employee shareholders weighs in favor of the enforceability of restrictive covenants in partnership agreements, and against their enforceability where the covenantee is simply a mere employee. *Id.*  Here, as in *Pittman* and analogous to *Ashley*, the covenants entered into among the doctors were all based upon the presumption and desire of the shareholders that by entering into the covenants not to compete were any one doctor to depart the practice, the remaining doctors would be able to protect their very substantial investment and goodwill in the medical complex the shareholders had created. Indeed, this increased the value of each of their shares and would be paid in the form of a higher share price upon sale or departure from PVH. This equal bargaining power and specific and deliberate negotiation is a broad and fundamental difference from a typical "master-servant" covenant not to compete, and the covenant not to compete in the instant matter is accordingly presumed valid. When the restrictive covenants were entered into it was highly unlikely that any one shareholder imposed his will on the other shareholders knowing who would be the first to leave.

The mutual promises of the shareholders resulting in the increased value of the shares and the protection of their investment and goodwill in the company cannot be viewed as anything other than consideration. Salewski argues that the promises of the other shareholders cannot be consideration for his own promise not to compete and yet, as a shareholder Salewski relied upon this mutual promise to protect his own investment and goodwill. The redemption price of Salewski's shares in PVH reflected the inherent value of the covenant not to compete. It would create unjust enrichment to allow Salewski to have redeemed his shares for that full value without finding the mutual agreements of the shareholders as consideration for the non-competition clause.

B. The Arbitrator Did Not Err in Enforcing the Liquidated Damages Clause Where the Parties Agreed That Breach of the Agreement Would Result in Irreparable Damage to the Company and All Parties Agreed It Would Be Necessary to Protect the Shareholders and Clients of the Company and Did Not Create an Undue Hardship

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